IN THE SUPRME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EDWARD BYROM

APPELLANT

VERSUS

SEP 18 2007

NO.2007-CP-00638-COA

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Submitted By:

Edward Byrom, Pro Se #K7064 Unit 29-E Parchman, Mississippi 38738

Case Cites

Cases:	Page Number:
Albernaz v. United States, 450 U.S. 333, 101 S.Ct. 1137, 67 L.Ed.2d 275 (1981).	2
Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 303, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed 304, 306 (1931)	1
Bradshaw v. State, 192 So.2d 387 (Miss. 1966)	3
Bullock v. State, 222 So.2d 692 (Miss. 1969)	2
Davis v. Herring, 800 F.2d 513 (5th Cir. 1986)	3
Evans v. State, 204 So.2d 570 (Miss. 1967)	3

Statement of the Case

Tishomingo County Grand Jury indicted the Appellant, Edward Byrom, for the crimes of: Conspiracy to commit capital murder; Accessory before the fact of grand larceny; and Accessory before the fact of burglary of a dwelling with intent to commit assault. After intense negotiations between Byrom's attorney and the District Attorney, Byrom entered a plea of guilty to all three counts on June 21, 2001.

The Tishomingo County Circuit Court sentenced Byrom to a term of twenty (20) years on Count I (Conspiracy to commit capital murder); five (5) years on Count II (Accessory before the fact of grand larceny); and to twenty-five (25) years on Count III (Accessory before the fact of burglary of a dwelling with intent to commit assault). The sentences imposed were run consecutively for a total term of fifty (50) years to serve in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

Statement of the Issues

The Appellant, Edward Byrom, submits the following constitutional claims as the issues to be considered by this Honorable Court.

- 1. Byrom has been denied his rights under the Mississippi and United States

 Constitutions against double jeopardy.
- 2. Byrom has been denied his rights under the Mississippi and United States Constitutions against cumulative punishments.
- 3. Byrom avers that when a defendant is charged with multiple offenses, and that the elements of one are included within the others, and/or are a part of a second greater offense, double jeopardy intervenes.

Summary of the Argument

Appellant Edward Byrom submits that he has been denied his right to be free from double jeopardy. Appellant claims he received three consecutive sentences, when in fact there should have only been one sentence, for one conviction. Appellant Byrom would further claim that the consecutive sentences fall in the category of multiple punishments since they were run consecutively and not concurrently. In sum, Appellant Byrom is requesting his convictions been reviewed under the standards of the Double Jeopardy Clause and appropriate, corrective action be taken.

Argument

Appellant Byrom was charged, convicted and sentenced for the crime of capital murder for hire, and thereafter convicted and sentenced consecutively for the crimes of breaking and entering a dwelling house with the intent to commit the crimes of assault and/or murder. Byrom submits that the crime of breaking and entering a dwelling house with the intent to commit the crime of assault and/or murder and capital murder for hire are not subject to separate sentences for purposes of double jeopardy.

Byrom avers that when breaking and entering a dwelling, as charged in an indictment or bill of information, it is not charged as a substantive offense but as demonstrative of assaultive or murderous intent. The crime of breaking and entering a dwelling with intent to assault and/or murder was not subject to a separate sentence. Furthermore, largeny is a lesser-included offense of breaking and entering.

This argument must begin with homage to *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299, 303, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed 304, 306 (1931), which Byrom is certain is this Court's most durable gloss when considering claims of double jeopardy. *Blockburger* arose in the context of multiple punishments imposed for a single offense. It holds that the courts may not impose for one *de jure* offense more than lawful the prescribed punishment. See also, *North Carolina v. Pearce*, 395 U.S. 711, 717, 89 S.Ct. 2072, 23 L.Ed.2d 656 (1969).

The double jeopardy clause provides that no person shall "be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb." See, *United States Constitution, Article 5*. It protects against three different governmental abuses: a second prosecution

for the same offense after acquittal, a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction, and multiple punishments for the same offense. When multiple punishments are imposed at a single trial, the Supreme Court as a matter solely of statutory construction has consistently described their propriety. The legislature may impose whatever punishments it sees fit for any combination of crimes subject only to the limitations of the Eighth Amendment. A court, therefore, may impose consecutive sentences whenever the legislature intended them. If the legislature intent is clear, the Constitution requires only that it be obeyed by the sentencing court. See *United States v. Rodriguez*, 612 F.2d 906, 925-30 (5th Cir. 1980), wherein Justin Rubin held:

In my view, the sounder method of statutory construction would permit the imposition of only a single sentence for a single criminal act, even if the defendant is convicted under more than one statute.

See also, *Albernaz v. United States*, 450 U.S. 333, 101 S.Ct. 1137, 67 L.Ed.2d 275 (1981). If the legislature's intent is uncertain, however, the Supreme Court has instructed that courts apply the test of *Blockburger*, as a "rule of statutory construction" to determine whether the legislature intended that the two (or three in this case) offenses be punished cumulatively. *Blockburger* upheld the imposition of multiple sentences imposed at one trial, holding that "the test to be applied to determine whether there are two offenses or only one is whether each provision requires proof of an additional fact that the other does not." The Court has further specified that the *Blockburger* test is to be applied to the elements of proof required by the statute and not to the actual evidence or proof adduced at trial in a given case.

In the case *sub judice*, Byrom was charged with capital murder for hire, burglary of a dwelling with intent to commit assault and/or murder, and charged with grand

larceny. All three of these offenses were alleged to have been committed on June 4, 1999. The Criminal Information for the capital murder offense reads as follows:

In said County and State on or about the 4th day of June, 1999, did willfully, unlawfully and feloniously conspire with Michelle Byrom, and Joey Dale Gillis to commit the crime of capital murder in that they did agree to kill or cause the death of Edward Louis Byrom...

The Criminal Information for the offense of breaking and entering the dwelling house of Edward Louis Byrom reads as follows:

In said County and State on or about the 4th day of June, 1999, did willfully, unlawfully, feloniously (as an accessory before the fact and as an accomplice to Joey Dale Gillis) break and enter the dwelling house of Edward Byrom Sr. with the intent to commit a crime therein, to wit: the crime of assault and/or murder and in furtherance thereof did provide a 9mm Luger pistol, a deadly weapon to the said Joey Dale Gillis who did purposely, knowingly and feloniously cause or attempt to cause bodily injury to Edward Byrom Sr. with said 9mm Luger pistol...

The Criminal Information for the offense of grand larceny reads as follows:

In said County and State on or about the 4th day of June, 1999, did willfully, unlawfully and feloniously take steal and carry away a 9mm Luger pistol the personal property of Edward Byrom Sr. having a value greater than \$250.00, with the intent to permanently deprive the owner...

In this context, two or more statutes may prescribe the same conduct. This is viewed in the sense that the constituent elements of each offense mirrors the other. In the case *sub judice*, Byrom is focused with the lesser variants of the same offense. A man may arm himself and break and enter an occupied dwelling at night, and his conduct offends any one of several lesser burglary statutes (*Mississippi Code Annotated § 97-17-19 and -21*). Then there are the traditional lesser-included offenses, aggravated assault included within murder, trespass included within larceny, among others. See, *Jones v. State, 66 Miss.* 380, 384, 6 So. 231, 232 (1889).

In support of this contention, Byrom submits the case of *Bullock v. State*, 222 So.2d 692 (Miss. 1969), where *Bullock* was convicted on one count of burglary and one count of larceny. *Bullock* was sentenced to a term of five (5) years for the burglary, and three (3) years for the larceny. These sentences were run consecutively. This Court held that Bullock's sentence was in error. This Court held:

This sentence is error. See Evans v. State, 204 So.2d 570 (Miss. 1967) and Bradshaw v. State, 192 So.2d 387 (Miss. 1966), in each of which we held that the larceny charged in the indictment was charged not as a substantive offense, but as demonstrative of burglarious intent, and therefore, the charge of grand larceny was not subject to separate sentence. In each of these cases that part of the sentence related to larceny was deleted as surplusage.

Byrom submits that there is still yet another position in which this Court can consider. The United States Supreme Court in Whalen v. United States, 445 U.S. 684, 100 S.Ct. 1432, 63 L.Ed.2d 715 (1980), and Harris v. Oklahoma, 433 U.S. 682, 97 S.Ct. 2912, 53 L.Ed.2d 1054 (1977) make clear that when there is a violation of a complex statute, such as the case sub judice, the Blockburger test may be modified. In essence, this would require that the court examine only the relevant portions of the statute and the actual underlying felony. If the murder charge relied on proof of a specific felony, then that felony is a lesser-included offense, even though it might not always be essential to the murder charge because other felonies might also have supported a conviction. See, Davis v. Herring, 800 F.2d 513 (5th Cir. 1986).

Moreover, a statutory scheme that permits the prosecution to obtain three convictions and three sentences cannot be regarded as the equivalent of a statute that permits only a single conviction, whether or not that single conviction can result in a sentence of equal severity. The greater number of possible convictions, the greater the

risk the defendant faces. The defendant is *put in jeopardy* with respect to each charge against him.

Consider this, the very fact that the State could simply convict Byrom of one crime, and impose an appropriate punishment for that crime, demonstrates that it has no legitimate interest in any justice. However, the State would rather seek multiple convictions and multiple punishments simply because it can. The creation of multiple crimes serves only to strengthen the prosecution's hand. Moreover, it advances no valid state interest that could not just as easily be achieved without bringing multiple charges against the defendant.

In view of these considerations, the Double Jeopardy Clause cannot be reasonably interpreted to leave legislatures completely free to subject a defendant to the risk of multiple punishments, simply on the basis of what constitutes a single criminal transaction.

Byrom readily agrees that the State has wide latitude to define crimes and to prescribe the punishment for a given crime. However, the Constitution does not permit a State to punish as three crimes, conduct that constitutes only one offense, within the meaning of the Double Jeopardy Clause. If the Double Jeopardy Clause imposed no restrictions on a legislature's power to authorize multiple convictions and punishments, there would be no limit to the number of convictions and sentences a State could obtain on the basis of: the same act, same state of mind, and result. A State would be free to create substantively identical crimes differing only in name, or to create a series of greater and lesser included offenses, with the first crime a lesser-included offense of the second, the second a lesser-included offense of the third, and so on.

It is interesting to note that when Byrom raised this claim for the first time in the Tishomingo County Circuit Court, the Court conveniently altered the titles of his charges. The Court used the change in titles for the basis of denying post-conviction relief. There can be no misunderstanding of the charges Byrom was assigned. The Bill of Information, provided for each individual crime, are precise, concise, and accurate. The Circuit Court further alleged that "Each of these crimes require different elements." (Record pp. 66). In other words, the Circuit Court admits that each crime requires different elements, however the Circuit Court failed to state that each crime does or does not have different elements

Conclusion

Wherefore, premises considered, Appellant Edward Byrom submits that he has been the victim of a violation of the double jeopardy clause, in that he received multiple sentences, running consecutively, for what is in essence one single act or crime. In any case, the sentences should have been run concurrently. Appellant Byrom respectfully moves this Honorable Court to grant relief by returning this action to the Tishomingo County Circuit Court for further consideration. In the alternative, Appellant Byrom would move this Court to grant such other relief as deemed appropriate under the circumstances of this cause and action.

THIS, the 18th day of September, 2007.