# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## **EDWARD BYROM**

VS.

APPELLANT

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2007-CP-0638-COA

## STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

## **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

# APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

## JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

# **

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT5
ARGUMENT
BYROM'S MOTION WAS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS6
PROPOSITION II
BYROM WAS NOT SUBJECTED TO DOUBLE JEOPARDY
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE <sup>*</sup>

i

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

.

# FEDERAL CASES

Blockburger v	v. United States	, 284 U. S. 299	, 304 (1932)	)	
---------------	------------------	-----------------	--------------	---	--

# STATE CASES

Keyes v. State 708 So. 2d 540, *544 (Miss.1998)	;
Odom v. State, 483 So. 2d 343, 344 (Miss. 1986)	)
Shook v. State, 552 So.2d 841, 848 (Miss.1989)	;
Smith v. State, 429 So.2d 252, 253-54 (Miss.1983)	\$

# STATE STATUTES

Miss Code Ann. Sect 99-39-5(2)(Supp. 1985	
Miss. Code Ann. Sect. 99-39-1	

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### **EDWARD BYROM**

VS.

NO. 2007-CP-0638-COA

**APPELLANT** 

APPELLEE

#### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

#### **PROCEDURAL HISTORY:**

On June 21, 2001, Edward Byrom,"Byrom" pled guilty to conspiracy to commit capital murder, accessory before the fact of grand larceny and accessory before the fact of burglary of dwelling with intent to commit assault and/or murder before the Circuit Court of Tishomingo County, the Honorable Thomas J. Gardner, III presiding. C.P. 87. Bryom's pleas were found to be voluntarily and intelligently entered. C.P. 156. He was given a combined fifty with twenty years suspended sentence in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. C.P.151.

On November 14, 2006 Byrom filed a motion for post conviction relief. C.P. 2-14. The trial court denied relief, finding no merit to any of Byrom's claims. C.P. 169. Byrom filed notice of appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court. C.P. 20.

### **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

## WAS BYROM TIME BARRED UNDER THE UPCCRA?

II.

#### WAS BYROM SUBJECTED TO DOUBLE JEOPARDY?

# BECAUSE HE BELIEVES THE ELEMENTS OF CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT MURDER ARE THE SAME AS THE ELEMENTS FOR ACCESSORY TO BREAKING AND ENTERING A DWELLING WITH INTENT?

II.

#### WAS BYROM SUBJECTED TO DOUBLE JEOPARDY?

# BECAUSE HE BELIEVES THE ELEMENTS OF ACCESSORY BEFORE THE FACT OF GRAND LARCENY ARE THE SAME AS ACCESSORY BEFORE THE FACT OF BURGLARY WITH INTENT TO ASSAULT?

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 21, 2001, Byrom was charged by criminal information affidavit with conspiracy with his mother and Mr. Joey Gillis to commit capital murder on June 4, 1999 by the District Attorney of Tishomingo County. C.P. 29. This crime involved assisting his mother and the alleged actual assassin, Joey Dale Gillis, in murdering Byrom's father in order to assist in collecting and then sharing in the life insurance benefits his mother would receive. C.P. 205. Byrom, with the benefit of counsel, waived the need for indictment by a grand jury on the charge. C.P. 30; 93. Byrom was also charged by criminal information affidavit with accessory before the fact of grand larceny, and accessory before the fact of burglary of a dwelling with intent to commit assault. C.P. 74; 119. Byrom with the benefit of counsel waived the need for indictment on the these charges as well. C.P. 93; 120.

On June 26, 2001, Byrom with the benefit of counsel pled guilty before the Circuit Court of Tishomingo County, the Honorable Thomas J. Gardner presiding. C.P. 87-115. Byrom was represented by Mr. Roy J. Farrell. C.P. 87. Byrom admitted that he had waived indictment on these three charges. C.P. 91. After being sworn, Bryom and his counsel were advised and questioned by the trial court as to Byrom's understanding of the charges against him, and the possible consequences of his plea. C.P.89-92. Byrom admitted that he knew the Constitutional rights he was waiving by pleading guilty. This included his right to a jury trial with right of cross examination and the right against self incrimination. C.P. 90-92. Byrom admitted knowing the maximum sentences for his three separate offenses. C.P. 96-97. They were twenty for conspiracy to commit capital murder, five for grand larceny, and twenty five for accessory before the fact of burglary of a dwelling. C.P. 96-97.

Byrom admitted that he was guilty of the three separate felony charges. C.P. 96. He admitted that he was guilty of conspiracy to commit capital murder of his father, accessory before the fact of grand larceny, and accessory before the fact of burglary with intent to assault and/or murder. C.P. 96. Byrom admitted that he had not been coerced or promised anything in exchange for his guilty plea. C. P. 90. He admitted that he was not under the influence of alcohol or drugs. C.P. 89. He admitted he had a tenth grade education, was 21 years old, and could read and write and understood the significance of the court proceedings. C.P. 88-90.

After advising and questioning Byrom, and Mr. Roy J. Farrell, his guilty plea counsel, the trial court found that Byrom's guilty pleas were voluntarily and intelligently entered. C.P. 110. Byrom was sentenced to serve consecutive sentences of twenty five, twenty, and five years in the custody of the MDOC. The twenty five year consecutive sentence included twenty years suspended on condition of good behavior. C.P. 113-114.

On November 14, 2006, Byrom filed for post conviction relief. C.P. 3-14. Byrom claimed that he had been subjected to double jeopardy and cumulative punishment.

On February 22, 2007, the trial court denied relief, finding no merit to any of Byrom's claims. C.P. 109. Byrom filed notice of appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court. C.P. 167.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. Byrom's motion came more than three years after entry of his judgments of convictions. The record reflects that he pled guilty and was sentenced on June 21, 2001. C.P. 87-114. His motion for post conviction relief was filed on November 14, 2006. C.P. 2. In Byrom's motion with the trial court, he admitted that he was filing more than three years after entry of judgment of conviction. C. P. 7. He does not state any statutory acceptable reason under the UPCCRA, M. C. A § 99-39-5(2) for why the statute of limitation should not apply in his case. C.P. 2-14. There was no statement about any intervening case, or any newly discovered applicable evidence for such a claim. There was no attempt at providing any basis for being excluded from the three year statute of limitations. Therefore, under M. C. A. § 99-39-5(2) of the Post Conviction Relief Act, Byrom was time barred. 2. The record reflects there is no merit to any of Byrom's claims for relief. As found by the trial court, Byrom's claims of double jeopardy were not valid. C.P. 109. The elements of conspiracy to commit capital murder, accessory before the fact of grand larceny and accessory before the fact of burglary of a dwelling with intent are different from each other and not in any conceivable way all the same, as claimed by Byrom in his out of time motion. The sentences for these felonies are for different criminal convictions. Therefore, the Appellee would submit that this court should affirm the trial court's denial of relief.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### PROPOSITION I

# BYROM'S MOTION WAS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

Byrom's motion came more than three years after entry of his judgments of convictions. The record reflects that he pled guilty and was sentenced on June 21, 2001. C.P. 87-114. His motion for post conviction relief was filed on November 14, 2006. C.P. 2. There was no statement of any reason for providing a basis for being excluded from the three year statute of limitations. Therefore, under M. C. A. § 99-39-5(2) of the Post Conviction Relief Act, Byrom was time barred by the statute of limitations.

In **Odom v. State**, 483 So. 2d 343, 344 (Miss. 1986), the court stated under the Uniform Post Conviction Collateral Relief Act, a prisoner only has three years to apply for relief. Unless, his case falls under one of the exceptions provided, which are for newly discovered evidence or for a relevant intervening decision, he is time barred.

We would also point out that in dismissing the petition, the trial judge erroneously applied the three year statute of limitations provided for under the Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act (UPCCRA), Miss. Code Ann. Sect. 99-39-1 et seq (Supp 1985). This act applies prospectively from its date of enactment, April 17, 1984. Individuals convicted prior to April 17, 1984, have three years from April 17, 1984, to file their petition for post conviction relief. Those individuals convicted after April 17, 1984, generally have three (3) years in which to file a petition for relief as provided for in the UPCCRA, Miss Code Ann. Sect 99-39-5(2)(Supp. 1985)...

The Appellee would submit that the record reflects that Byrom's motion for post conviction relief in 2006 came long after June 21, 2001, the date of the entry of his judgment of conviction. Therefore, his motion was time barred.

#### **PROPOSITION II**

### BYROM WAS NOT SUBJECTED TO DOUBLE JEOPARDY.

Byrom believes that he was subjected to double jeopardy. He believes that the elements of his three separate charges were improperly combined. Bryom believes that the elements of accessory to breaking and entering a dwelling with intent to commit assault are incorporated in the charge of conspiracy to commit capital murder. He also thinks that the elements of the crime of grand larceny are included in the breaking and entering charge. Appellant's brief, and C.P. 2-14.

The trial court in its motion denying relief found no merit to Byrom's claim that the elements of conspiracy to commit capital murder were the same as the elements for accessory for breaking and entering a dwelling with intent to commit an assault. As the trial court pointed out, while some elements of these two charges may be the same or similar, they, nevertheless, each have separate, distinct factual elements. As stated in the order denying relief:

Petitioner entered a guilty plea on June 21, 2001 and was convicted of the crimes of count 1 conspiracy to commit capital murder. Count II, accessory before the fact of grand larceny, and count III, accessory before the fact of burglary of a dwelling with intent to commit assault, with each sentence running consecutive. Petitioner argues that double jeopardy should intervene because the elements of breaking and entering a dwelling with intent to commit assault are incorporated in the charge of conspiracy to commit capital murder. This is simply not accurate. Each of these crimes require different elements. Similarly, petitioner also contends that the essential elements of the crime grand larceny are included in the breaking and entering charge. This is also not correct. Burglary of a dwelling with the intent to commit assault is completely different than the crime of grand larceny and requires proving of completely different elements. The Court is of the opinion that petitioner's claim is without merit. C.P. 169.

In Blockburger v. United States, 284 U. S. 299, 304 (1932), the Supreme Court of the

United States stated the applicable rule for analyzing double jeopardy claims:

The applicable rule is that, where the same act or transaction constitutes a violation of two distinct statutory provisions, the test to be applied to determine whether there are two offenses or only one is whether each provision requires proof of an additional fact which the other does not.

In Keyes v. State 708 So. 2d 540, \*544 (Miss. 1998), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that it had accepted the "same elements" test for analyzing double jeopardy claims.

The "same-elements" methodology of **Blockburger** has been applied by this Court to analyze claims under both the Federal and State Double Jeopardy Clauses. See, e.g., **Shook v. State**, 552 So.2d 841, 848 (Miss.1989); **Smith v. State**, 429 So.2d 252, 253-54 (Miss.1983).

As stated by the trial court the factual elements for establishing the crime of conspiracy to commit capital murder differ from the factual elements for establishing the crime of accessory before the fact of breaking and entering a dwelling with intent to commit an assault or murder. For example, the conspiracy charge requires evidence of an agreement with others, in this case Byrom's mother and the actual alleged assassin, to assist them in their plan to murder for financial gain Byrom's father. Whereas accessory to the breaking and entering was for assisting in breaking and entering a building in order to enable the assassin to murder his father. The elements for accessory before the fact of grand larceny included evidence of assisting the assassin by providing him with a handgun stolen from the victim and then driving the assassin to the home where the father was residing, and picking up the shooter after the father had been killed. C.P. 207-208.

Therefore, the Appellee would submit that the trial court correctly found that no merit to Byrom's claim that the elements for his three different offenses were the same. These issues are not only time barred, they are lacking in merit.

## **CONCLUSION**

This Court should affirm the trial court's denial of relief for the reasons cited in this brief.